# RECEIVED

05-25-2018

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT III

-----

Case No. 2018 AP 651-CR

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KELLY JAMES KLOSS,

Defendant-Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_

**DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF** 

\_\_\_\_\_

## MILLER APPELLATE PRACTICE, LLC

Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant By Steven L. Miller #1005582 P.O. Box 655 River Falls, WI 54022 (715) 425-9780

On appeal from the Circuit Court of St. Croix County, Hon. Eugene Harrington, Circuit Judge, presiding.

#

## **ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

1. Is double jeopardy violated when one solicited crime is a lesser included of the other?

The Trial Court Answered: "Yes."

2. Is solicitation of First Degree Reckless Injury a crime under Wisconsin law?

The Trial Court Answered: "Yes."

3. Is the evidence sufficient to support "unequivocal intent" that a crime be committed when the solicited conduct could not occur without the element of surprise and defendant knowingly forewarned the alleged victims?

The Trial Court Answered: "Yes."

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Publication is requested as Wisconsin has no case law addressing the issues raised in this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

On November 8, 2013, Kloss was serving time in the Marathon County jail for OWI when he was released on a furlough to attend his mother's funeral. (225:43). He absconded. Prior to his incarceration Kloss resided in River Falls with his wife, Cheryl. River Falls police kept a close eye on his residence while he was missing. On September 5, 2014, an officer spoke to a man in the yard he thought may be Kloss but when questioned claimed to be Cheryl's brother. While the officer was waiting for a photo the man went back into the house. Once the photo confirmed the man was Kloss the officer called back-up, and the police forced open the door and searched. They were unable to find him. (225: 132-134). On October 10, 2014, an officer claims he saw Kloss standing by the kitchen window. (225:135). He obtained a warrant and the house was searched. Kloss was eventually found in a crawl space under the house by a police canine. (225:137-138). The police did not search for guns that day nor did they come across any. (225:147-148).

Kloss was arrested and placed in the St. Croix County Jail. He made frequent calls to his wife, all of them recorded. On October 13, 2014, Cary Rose of the St. Croix County Sheriff's Department started listening to the recorded phone calls starting with the calls Kloss made on October 11<sup>th</sup>. Rose continued monitoring the calls until October 23<sup>rd</sup>, which included the period Kloss had been moved to the Marathon County Jail. (224:34, 36; 225:199, 202).

<sup>1</sup> The Statement of the Case and the Statement of Facts are combined.

Altogether, some 52 calls over this 12-day period had been recorded. (229; 230). At trial, the State played fourteen calls from the St. Croix County jail (224:4-6, 23-28) and four calls from the Marathon County jail. (224:28, 30, 33). A transcript of the calls from each jail was prepared prior to trial and admitted into evidence by stipulation. (225:124-125; trial exhibits 5 and 6 (record items 229 and 230)). As none of the calls played at trial were taken down by the court reporter, all references to their content will be made by citing the page number of the phone call transcripts. (222:72).

The most inculpatory evidence was two phone calls made on October 14, 2014: one at 4:00 p.m. and the other at 5:35 p.m. In the 4:00 p.m. call, Kloss ranted and raved for some time about the how the police were liars and had made-up facts supporting probable cause for the October 10<sup>th</sup> search. He then added:

Kelly Kloss:....And one final thing, I want you to get your handgun out and your shotgun out and if a River Falls cop comes to your door again, you open fire. No warnings. You let them have it. Cheryl Kloss: Okay. Kelly Kloss: No warnings. They have no right to come into your house

and break your doors down, and they're going to lie about it, then there are no rules anymore, Cheri. A cop comes to your door. Let them him have it. The shotgun holds six shells. It's semiautomatic. So after you shoot five, just stick some more in, then shoot again. Let them have it, Cheri. Cheryl Kloss: Gotcha

Cheryl Kloss. Golcha

Kelly Kloss: Blow them away.

Cheryl Kloss: (inaudible) Gotcha

Kelly Kloss: So between your pistol and your shotgun, you could pick off quite a few of them before they – oh, they'll run. They're all—they're all scaredy-cats anyway. Never seen such a bunch of pussy-assed motherfuckers like – like River Falls cops. But I'm going to have fun with Joshua. I'm going -- maybe I can go visit him in jail when he gets his sentence because what he did is a crime.

(230:288-289). Kloss then complained about his probation agent and went on to discuss other topics.

In the 5:35 p.m. call, Kloss brought the topic up again:

Kelly Kloss: But I'm serious, Cheri. I want you to get your shotgun out. It's fully loaded, if I remember correctly, and your .357 out. And if the cop comes to the door, you say you have till the count of two to get off my property or I'm opening fire, then you count to one and you open fire. Understand me?

Cheryl Kloss: Yes.

Kelly Kloss: You kill them. Dead. Because if you don't, they will kill you. They are going to harass you. They are going – you might as well get ready to move, Cheri. Do you know what they are going to do to you now? After you humiliate –

Cheryl Kloss: Anything they can.

Kelly Kloss: them in court, after you humiliate them in court, they aren't going to stop. They have no shame. I read all three police statements. They're all identical lies. They have no shame, Cheryl, so you might as well—

...

--get ready to move. But in the meantime, if they come to your home, you kill them dead. ....

#### ••••

. . . .

Kelly Kloss: -- but you got to do it. If you don't back these fuckers off, they're just going to keep doing it. They're going to keep kicking your doors down. Aren't you sick and tired of having to get your doors fixed? Cheryl Kloss: Yes, I am.

Kelly Kloss: So the next time they come to the door, you walk down to the door with your gun in hand and you say you have two – until the count of two to get off my property. And you say one, and at two you shoot right through the door right into the cop, because he's no more welcome on your property than a robber. He is no different than a – than a –than a rapist or a breaker and enterer or a thief or a robber as you can see, can't you?

Cheryl Kloss: Yes.

Kelly Kloss: They are no different, so you shoot them down just like you would a mangy dog. And then you call your lawyer. Cheryl Kloss: Gotcha

Kelly Kloss: You just wipe them out, Cheri. Wipe them out. I hope - I hope it doesn't happen, though, because I want Joshua for myself.

(230:335-338). (See also 229:47-48 for similar comments).

These and other related comments were a relatively small part of Kloss's vulgar ranting and rambling conversations that covered a vast number of topics, including health insurance, real estate, selling personal items, changing cellular providers, what to feed the dog, attorneys, and other financial, medical and legal issues. (223:22-23, 26-27). Kloss had been seriously injured from a beating in jail (225:74-75) and he frequently spoke of his medical, AODA, and mental health ailments.<sup>2</sup> His lack of adequate treatment by jail staff, for example, was a consistent theme. (225:80). Cheryl testified that Kloss was just "talking stupid" and did not take him seriously. She "went along" with his rantings and raving because otherwise he would get upset. (223:30). Many of the statements he made she knew were untrue. (223:33-37).

Kloss repeatedly remarked that he knew the calls were being monitored and recorded. (see e.g. 230:149, 218, 282, 349-350; 229: 220, 236). In some instances, he made comments directly to law enforcement as if they were listening.<sup>3</sup> Kloss also told his wife to make sure both their lawyers knew what their "plans" were:

...you let your lawyer know what you plan to do and you let Barry Cohen know what you plan to do, both of them. You let them know what the cops have been doing to you and you let them know what you are going to do from now on. Shoot to kill. You are going to defend your property. Fair enough? Your right to (inaudible) to defend your property against intruders.

(230:336-337).

<sup>2</sup> Kloss stated to the circuit court he was bi-polar; had PTSD and ADHD; and was an alcoholic. (223:60)

<sup>3 &</sup>quot;Record all you want to record, you cocksuckers. You did me, you didmy wife, you did us dirty. You're a bunch of criminal slime. Thugs. And now I'm going to enforce the real fucking law." (230:218). "--give them the fucking information. We're on the phone that being recorded, Cheri." (230:281-282); "For God and the recorders, you don't have to record, I want you to tell your lawyer, write it down, when I get out I'm going to find Joshua Hecht and I'm going to beat his ass to a pulp." (230: 236).

You should talk to your lawyer about this. You should tell them, they pull this shit again, I'm going to open fire. I'm going to wipe them out. This is ridiculous. Did you tell him they never knocked?

#### (229:234). See also 223:37, 75, 115.

In the later part of the 5:35 p.m. call on October 14, Kloss suggested it was all just "stupid" talk: "Yep. Well, just, they want to talk stupid and lie and all that, I'll just talk stupid as I want to, too." (230: 340). He added: "Let them take me to court, listen in on everything I have to say and let them try and decide what's satire and what's true. Good luck with that folks." (230: 340-341). In another call he stated: "They are compiling a tape and they are – they are just going to scan this motherfucker and try and find anything on it they can use against me. But if they think I'm that fucking stupid to say anything incriminating, well, then that just goes to show how fucking stupid they are..." (230:342).

On October 24, 2014, the police arrested Cheryl Kloss at her place of employment. (223:46). They also obtained a warrant to search the house. Police found a cased shotgun and a rifle under a bed in the basement, and a loaded single-action revolver in the living room couch. (224:55-59, 63). Cheryl claimed she put the revolver in the couch after the search warrant was executed on October 10<sup>th</sup>, because it made her feel safer. (223:44). In the mid-90's she had been burglarized and robbed at gun point and suffered from PTSD as a result. When she was awoken on October 10<sup>th</sup> with guns pointed in her face, it brought the PTSD back. (225:65, 88). There was no line of sight between the couch and the front door. (225:66).

The State charged Kloss with seven counts of solicitation (Wis. Stat. § 939.30<sup>4</sup>). The conduct Kloss solicited (shooting at the door)

<sup>4</sup> **939.30.** Solicitation.

<sup>(1)</sup> Except as provided in sub. (2) and s. 961.455, whoever, with intent that a felony be committed, advises another to commit that crime under circumstances that indicate unequivocally that he or she has the intent is guilty of a Class H

allegedly resulted in seven distinct felony offenses. (135:9). Those "distinct" felony offenses were:

*Count 12<sup>5</sup>*, Solicitation of First Degree Intentional Homicide, Wis. Stat. § 940.01(1)(a); *Count 13*, Solicitation of Resisting an Officer Causing Great Bodily Harm to Officer, Wis. Stat. § 946.41(2t); *Count 14*, Solicitation of Failure to comply with Officer's Attempt to Take Person into Custody, Wis. Stat. § 946.415(2); *Count 15*, Solicitation of Battery of a Peace Officer, Wis. Stat. § 940.20(2); *Count 16*, Solicitation of Aggravated Battery, Wis. Stat. § 940.19(5); *Count 17*, Solicitation of First Degree Reckless Injury, Wis. Stat. § 940.23(1)(a); and, *Count 18*, Solicitation of First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, Wis. Stat. § 941.30(1).

The case was tried to the circuit court. Kloss did not testify.

The circuit court acquitted Kloss on five counts (Counts 12-16) and convicted him on two (counts 17 and 18). The two convictions were both based on reckless conduct: First Degree Reckless Injury (see Wis. Stat. § 940.23(1)(a)); and First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety (see Wis. Stat. § 941.30(1)). (223:124-127; A:13-16).

The circuit court acquitted Kloss on counts 12-16 because the State failed to prove specific intent to cause harm, among other reasons. The court rejected count 12 (Solicitation of First Degree Intentional Homicide, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.01(1)(a)) because the evidence was insufficient to prove an intent to kill. (223:124-125;

felony.

<sup>5</sup> The State amended the information multiple times. For administrative purposes, the new or amended charges were added sequentially, while prior counts remained on the information but were dismissed.

A:13-14). The court rejected Count 13 (resisting an officer) because "there was no anticipated need for any officer to go back to Mrs. Kloss's house, particularly after the second or third search." (223: 125; A:14). In addition, there was no evidence a law enforcement officer "would be at her door to arrest her or somebody else,...." (223:125-126; A:14-15). The court rejected Count 14 (Failure to comply with Officer's Attempt to Take Person into Custody) for the same reasons. The charge just wasn't supported by the facts. (223:126; A:15). Count 15 (Battery of a Peace Officer) was not proven either. There were no "facts to support a known circumstance where a law enforcement officer is going to come to her house on a date certain if she's going to be ready and shoot the person, shoot the law enforcement officer." (223: 126; A:15). Finally, the court rejected Count 16 (solicitation of aggravated battery) because "it requires a specific intent to go out and cause bodily harm to another person; and quite frankly, just shooting through the door in and of itself in my view isn't enough. Mental purpose to cause bodily harm to another human being. Not guilty." (223:127; A:16).

As to Counts 17 and 18, the Court found Kloss guilty and made the following findings of fact:

First, the defendant unequivocally intended that his wife place firearms in specific locations such that they would be readily available for her if someone, intruder or police officer, came to the door.

Two, he specifically intended that she load the firearms and have them ready upon immediate need, or imminent need.

Three, he intended that she shoot law enforcement officers that might happen to come through or to her door for whatever purpose, questioning, searching, general discussion, perhaps even finding directions.

Four, he intended that she shoot though the door or the wall with a 16-gauge shotgun or a .357 handgun.

Five, he intended that she shoot and then chase law enforcement officers down as they ran away.

Six, specifically, and perhaps most importantly, he told and specifically intended that Mrs. Kloss follow her instructions.

And seven, he specifically told Mrs. Kloss to not harm Officer Hecht as he, on more than one specific instance, told her he wanted to save that fella for himself.

(223: 117-118; A:6-7). As to Count 17, Solicitation of First Degree Reckless Injury, the Court specifically found as follows:

The findings of fact based on the credibility...of the witnesses is that *Mr. Kloss unequivocally told his wife to get a firearm, and if the police officers came to the door to shoot through the door.* Shooting through a door, shooting through a wall at somebody that may be outside the door is reckless conduct. *It's conduct which creates a risk of death or great bodily harm* to another person, and the risk of death or great bodily harm is unreasonable and substantial, and the defendant was aware that his or her conduct created the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm.

Third element: The circumstances of the defendant's conduct show utter disregard for human life. Mr. Kloss' utter disregard for human life is replete in his venom expressed in the transcripts for Joshua Hecht in particular *and law enforcement officers in general*, and the system. There is no question in my mind and in the law that shooting a firearm though a door—steel, metal, wood or otherwise is criminally reckless conduct that creates a risk of great bodily harm or death that unreasonable and substantial, and that anybody that does that is aware that the conduct is unreasonable and substantial. Defendant is Guilty on 17.

(emphasis added) (223: 128-129; A:17-18). As to Count 18, Solicitation of First Degree Reckless Endangerment, the Court found as follows:

Count 18, first-degree recklessly endangering safety. *Again, let's harken back to the elements of the findings of fact.* The defendant endangered the safety of another person. He instructed his wife to take the handgun and shoot through the door. Criminally reckless conduct is the second element. Again, it's created a risk or (sic) death. Great bodily harm was unreasonable and substantial, and the defendant was aware of that. Great bodily harm means injury which creates a substantial risk of death, or which causes serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a permanent or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily organ or member, or

other serious bodily injury. Gunshot wound to the body is going to cause permanent injury.

Three, third element, the circumstances of the defendant's conduct showed utter disregard for human life. Telling one to shoot through the door with a hand gun, a shotgun, or his real intent when he instructed his wife to chase them down and shoot more than satisfies that last requirement.

It isn't just the defendant's words that convict him. It isn't just control. It isn't just Mrs. Kloss' susceptibility. It isn't just the dynamic between the two. Perhaps the most important fact of all, this is not only the dynamic, the instructions, the commands, the demands, the insults, the relationship between them, but when Mr. Nelson said there is no smoking gun, no, but there's a gun, and it's in the location—the precise location where Mr. Kloss instructed his wife to do it.<sup>6</sup> Given the dynamic, the instructions, her various efforts and assertions in the record to do precisely what he told her to do, the fact that the handgun was in the couch, loaded, really are the determining facts whereby one looks at the credibility ...and totality of this evidence, convinces me that the defendant is guilty as to Counts 17 and 18, the last two counts.

(emphasis added) (223:129-130; A:18-19).<sup>7</sup>

#### 2. Postconviction Facts.

Kloss filed a postconviction motion seeking dismissal of one or both counts: 1) his separate convictions for Solicitation of First Degree Reckless Injury and Solicitation of First Degree Endangering Safety were multiplicitous; 2) he could not, as a matter of law, solicit a reckless crime (First Degree Reckless Injury) that required the state to prove a specific type of injury; and 3) the evidence was insufficient to convict on either count because the State failed to prove Kloss unequivocally intended that a felony crime be committed. Kloss

<sup>6</sup> This finding has no basis in the record. Kloss never instructed his wife to put a gun in the couch.

<sup>7</sup> Kloss was also convicted of Possession of a Firearm by Felon, contrary to Wis. Stat § 941.29(2), after entering a no contest plea prior to trial. Kloss does not appeal that conviction.

contended these arguments were adequately raised by trial counsel, but also alleged ineffective assistance of counsel in the event they weren't. At the postconviction hearing, the circuit court accepted a stipulation between Kloss and the State that trial counsel did preserve these issues and therefore an ineffective assistance of counsel claim was unnecessary. (228:4).

The circuit court orally denied the postconviction motion on March 16, 2018. (227; A:20-34). A written Order denying the postconviction motion was entered on April 2, 2018. (199; A:35). Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal on April 2, 2018. (200).

The circuit court's reasons for denying Kloss' postconviction motion will be addressed in the argument section of this brief.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. SEPARATE CONVICTIONS FOR SOLICITING FIRST DEGREE RECKLESS INJURY AND SOLICITING FIRST DEGREE RECKLESSLY ENDANGERING SAFETY ARE MULTIPLICITOUS AND VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

#### 1. Summary

Counts 17 and 18 are multiplicitous because First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety is a lesser included offense of First Degree Reckless Injury.

#### 2. Legal Standards for Multiplicity Analysis

The double jeopardy clause of both the Wisconsin and U.S. Constitutions embody three protections: "protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and protection against multiple punishments for the same offense." *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, ¶10, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998), *citing State v. Sauceda*, 168 Wis. 2d 486, 492, 485 N.W.2d 1 (1992).

Multiplicity challenges invoke the protection against multiple punishments for the same offense. These generally consist of two types: 1) the "lesser-included offense" claim, where the defendant claims he or she was punished for committing both a greater and a lesser-included offense; and, 2) a "continuous offense" claim, where the defendant argues that he or she has been punished for two or more counts of the same offense arising out of one criminal act. *Lechner*, at ¶11.

A defendant may be charged and convicted of multiple crimes arising out of one criminal act only if the legislature intends it. *Lechner*, at ¶12, citing *State v. Kuntz*, 160 Wis. 2d 722, 754, 467 N.W.2d 531 (1991). In determining the legislature's intent, the court must consider: (1) whether each offense is identical in law and in fact; and (2) whether the legislature intended to allow multiple convictions for the offenses charged.

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