RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **08-29-2018**

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP651-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KELLY JAMES KLOSS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE ST. CROIX COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE EUGENE D. HARRINGTON, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Kloss's convictions for solicitation of recklessly endangering safety and solicitation of firstdegree reckless injury are not multiplicitous.

A. Standard of review

This Court determines de novo whether an individual's right to be free from double jeopardy has been violated and whether convictions are multiplicitous. *State v. Davison*, 2003 WI 89, ¶ 15, 263 Wis. 2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1. This Court is concerned with the correctness of the circuit court's decision and will affirm that decision even if the court was right for the wrong reason. *See State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 124, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985).

B. Relevant law

"Under the Wisconsin Constitution, multiple punishments may not be imposed for charges that are identical in law and fact unless the legislature intended to impose such punishments." *State v. Patterson*, 2010 WI 130, ¶ 15, 329 Wis. 2d 599, 790 N.W.2d 909 (citing *Davison*, 263 Wis. 2d 145, ¶¶ 30–32). If the Legislature did not so intend, the punishments are unconstitutionally multiplicitous. *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 402, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998).

There are generally two types of multiplicity challenges: (1) "a 'lesser-included offense' case where the defendant argues that he or she has been punished for committing a greater offense and a lesser-included offense" for a single act against a single victim, and (2) "a 'continuous offense' case where the defendant argues that he or she has been punished for two or more counts of the same offense arising out of one criminal act" against a single victim. *Id*.

A court uses a two-prong test to determine whether convictions are multiplicitous. *State v. Ziegler*, 2012 WI 73, ¶ 60, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238. The first prong considers whether two offenses are identical in law and fact pursuant to *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932). *State v. Multaler*, 2002 WI 35, ¶ 52, 252 Wis. 2d 54, 643 N.W.2d 437.

This Court employs the "elements only" test set forth in *Blockburger* to determine whether offenses are different in law or whether one crime is a lesser-included offense of another crime, which is codified in Wis. Stat. § 939.66(1). *Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d at 405. "Under this test, two offenses are different in law if each statutory crime requires for conviction proof of an element which the other does not require." *Id.*

"Two offenses, which are legally identical, are not identical in fact if the acts allegedly committed are sufficiently different in fact to demonstrate that separate crimes have been committed." *Ziegler*, 342 Wis. 2d 256, \P 60.

Offenses are considered sufficiently different in fact if they "are separated in time or are of a significantly different nature." *Multaler*, 252 Wis. 2d 54, ¶ 56 (citation omitted). To determine whether charged acts were separate in time, "the court asks whether there was sufficient time for reflection between the acts such that the defendant re-committed himself to the criminal conduct." *Id.* "Similarly, whether the charged acts are significantly different in nature is not limited to a straightforward determination of whether the acts are of different types. Acts may be 'different in nature' even when they are the same types of acts as long as each required 'a new volitional departure in the defendant's course of conduct." *Id.* ¶ 57 (citation omitted).

The second prong considers legislative intent. Ziegler, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶¶ 61–63. The outcome of the first prong determines which of two presumptions a court will apply when analyzing the second prong. Id. ¶¶ 61–62. A court

considers the second prong regardless of the outcome of the first prong. *Patterson*, 329 Wis. 2d 599, ¶ 16.

If two offenses are identical in both fact and law, then a court presumes that the Legislature did not authorize cumulative punishments, unless the State shows "a clear indication of contrary legislative intent." *Ziegler*, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 61. If the State cannot meet that burden, multiple punishments for the same offense violate the prohibition on double jeopardy. *Id.* ¶ 62.

By contrast, if two offenses are different in fact or law, then a court presumes that the Legislature authorized cumulative punishments. *Ziegler*, 342 Wis. 2d 256, ¶ 62. At that point, "we are no longer concerned with a double jeopardy violation but instead a potential due process violation." *Id*. Under those circumstances, "it is the defendant's burden to show a clear legislative intent that cumulative punishments are not authorized." *Davison*, 263 Wis. 2d 145, ¶ 45.

C. Kloss's convictions for solicitation of recklessly endangering safety and solicitation of first-degree reckless injury are different in fact and law.

Solicitation incorporates the criminal offense that is the object of the solicitation into the elements of solicitation. It does not incorporate the elements of the underlying offense. The elements of the offense that is the object of the solicitation are only relevant to show that the conduct solicited would bring about that result. But it is the offense itself that becomes one of the elements of the offense of solicitation. Kloss's convictions therefore necessarily had different elements and are different in law. Furthermore, he solicited his wife to commit separate reckless acts against many potential victims, which means his convictions are also different in fact. And, like the conspiracy statute, the way the solicitation statute is written shows that the Legislature contemplated multiple charges arising out of a single course of conduct. Consequently, there is no double jeopardy or due process issue.

> 1. Solicitation of first-degree reckless injury and solicitation of first-degree recklessly endangering safety have different elements and are thus different in law.

"The crime of solicitation . . . is committed by one who, with intent that a felony be committed, advises another to commit that crime under circumstances that indicate unequivocally that he or she had that intent." Wis. JI-Criminal 550. Solicitation has two elements. Id. The State must prove that (1) "the defendant intended that [a particular felony] be committed," and (2) "the defendant advised another person, by the use of words or other expressions to commit [that felony], and did so under circumstances that indicate, unequivocally, that the defendant intended that [felony] be committed." Id. "Unequivocally' means that no other inference or conclusion can reasonably and fairly be drawn from the defendant's acts." Id. "[A]s to those crimes which are defined in terms of certain prohibited results, it is necessary that the solicitor intend to achieve that result through the participation of another." 2 Wayne R. LaFave, Substantive Criminal Law § 11.1(c) 272 (3d ed. 2018).

In State v. Jackson, 2004 WI App 190, ¶ 8, 276 Wis. 2d 697, 688 N.W.2d 688, this Court explained how to assess the elements of a criminal offense that requires commission of another crime. Jackson was involved in a plot to fire bomb a Milwaukee police officer's home, enabling two others to shoot people running from the building. *Id.* ¶ 2. He "was convicted of two counts of conspiracy (conspiracy to commit arson and conspiracy to commit intentional homicide)." *Id.* ¶ 1. Jackson

argued that his convictions and sentences on two counts of conspiracy arising out of one course of conduct were multiplicitous and violated the double jeopardy clause. *Id.* \P 3.

This Court disagreed. It noted that the elements of conspiracy under Wis. Stat. § 939.31 "incorporate each criminal offense that is the object of the conspiracy." Jackson, 276 Wis. 2d 697, ¶ 8. "This means that when a conspiracy has as its object the commission of multiple crimes, separate charges and convictions for each intended crime are permissible. Thus, § 939.31 expresses the Wisconsin legislature's intent to permit multiple punishments." Jackson, 276 Wis. 2d 697, ¶ 8. Because one conspiracy charge would incorporate arson as an element and one conspiracy charge would incorporate intentional homicide, the charges were different in law. Id. ¶ 9. And because each required proof of facts that the other did not, they were different in fact as well. Id.

Like the conspiracy statute, the elements of the solicitation statute "incorporate each criminal offense that is the criminal object" of the solicitation. Jackson, 276 Wis. 2d 697, ¶ 8 (emphasis added). This Court in Jackson did not consider the elements of the underlying offenses; the dispositive factor was that arson and intentional homicide were different felonies. Id.

In other words, the offenses themselves become elements of solicitation. For the reckless injury charge, the State had to prove that (1) Kloss intended that first-degree reckless injury be committed, and (2) Kloss advised Cheryl, by the use of words or other expressions to commit firstdegree reckless injury, and did so under circumstances that indicate, unequivocally, that Kloss intended that first degree reckless injury be committed. Wis. JI—Criminal 550. For the endangering safety charge, he State had to prove that (1) Kloss intended that first-degree recklessly endangering safety be committed, and (2) Kloss advised Cheryl, by the use of words or other expressions to commit first-degree recklessly endangering safety, and did so under circumstances that indicate, unequivocally, that Kloss intended that first-degree recklessly endangering safety be committed.

The State does not dispute that first-degree recklessly endangering safety is a lesser-included offense of first-degree reckless injury when the charges arise from a single completed reckless act by one perpetrator against one victim. State v. Weso, 60 Wis. 2d 404, 408, 210 N.W.2d 442 (1973); Wis. Stat. § 939.66(1). But here, Kloss was not convicted of first-degree reckless injury and first-degree reckless endangerment. He was convicted of two counts of solicitation of two statutorily different crimes. The two elements of solicitation require only that the state prove that the solicitor intended to achieve a result that constitutes a particular, statutorily defined felony, and that he advised another to commit that crime. Solicitation is complete upon the solicitor's advice or urging to commit that felony. After the crime of solicitation is complete, it does not matter whether the elements of the solicited felony are later met. Therefore, as long as the crimes being solicited are different felonies, two solicitation charges are different in law regardless of whether one crime would be a lesser included offense of the other for a completed act, because with solicitation there need not be a completed act; the solicitation is based solely on the result the solicitor intended to achieve. The elements of the underlying crimes are relevant only to evaluate whether the conduct solicited could meet the statutory elements of the intended result. But with no completed act, there is nothing to "include" in the greater crime. Consequently, a person can solicit a greater crime without committing solicitation of the lesser crime.

For example, if Kloss had told Cheryl "I want you to commit first-degree reckless injury," he would have committed solicitation of first-degree reckless injury without committing solicitation of reckless endangerment. That is so because by those words he would unequivocally intend that first-degree reckless injury be committed, not recklessly endangering safety. And solicitation is all about the solicitor's intent: what crime the solicitor "intended . . . be committed." Wis. JI-Criminal 550. Because in that scenario Kloss clearly would have intended one and not the other, he could not be convicted of solicitation of recklessly endangering safety because that is not the crime he "indicate[d], unequivocally, that [he] intended . . . be committed." Id. It would not be the felony solicited, because the acts of those felonies do not have to be completed in order for the offense of solicitation to occur. And without an actual act, there is no conduct to be "included" in first-degree reckless injury.

Consequently, these two charges necessarily have different elements. Jackson, 276 Wis. 2d 697, ¶¶ 8–9. Kloss fails to recognize the distinction between a charge for solicitation of a crime and being charged with the underlying crime itself. (Kloss's Br. 19–20.) But the solicitation statute, like the conspiracy statute, incorporates the particular criminal offense that is the object of the solicitation, not the elements of that offense. That means Kloss may be charged with two counts of solicitation, one incorporating the crime of first-degree reckless injury, and one incorporating the crime of first-degree recklessly endangering safety. Jackson, 276 Wis. 2d 697, ¶ 9. Pursuant to Jackson, his charges are different in law.

2. Kloss's two convictions are also different in fact.

solicitation of first-degree But even recklessly endangering safety and first-degree reckless injury are identical in law, Kloss's convictions are different in fact. While it is true that the State had to prove that Kloss intended that first-degree reckless injury and first-degree recklessly endangering safety be committed. which necessarily required the State to show that Kloss intended Cheryl to commit those crimes, that does not mean that the latter charge was a lesser-included offense of the former. Kloss fails to acknowledge that first-degree recklessly endangering safety is a lesser-included offense of first-degree reckless injury only if the defendant is convicted of both crimes for one act against one victim. That is not what happened here.

The record is replete with evidence that Kloss solicited Cheryl to commit multiple reckless acts against multiple victims.⁸ While discussing the damage the police did to the house when they came to arrest him, Kloss asked Cheryl, "[a]re you ready to shoot them when they come to your house next time? . . . No warning shot. Take them out. . . . They'll run" (R. 208:48–49.) He told Cheryl "In case you run out of cartridges in one, you could just use the other one. I mean, I'm hoping you're going to get at least half a dozen of them" (R. 208:50.) "And one final thing, I want you to get your

⁸ This Court is not limited to reviewing the circuit court's repeated references at trial to Kloss's urging Cheryl to shoot through the door when determining whether there were sufficient facts to show that Kloss solicited multiple acts against multiple victims. (*See* Kloss's Br. 22.) "Where the trial court makes the right decision for the wrong reason, this Court will affirm." *State v. Rognrud*, 156 Wis. 2d 783, 789, 457 N.W.2d 573 (Ct. App. 1990).

handgun out and your shotgun out and if a River Falls cop comes to your door again, you open fire. No warnings. You will let them have it. . . . you say one, and at two you shoot right through the door right into the cop." (R. 209:289, 338.) Furthermore, Kloss advised Cheryl not only to shoot through the door, but to chase the police down and shoot any officers running away: "You see them run, when they run, run out the door after them. . . . Chase them down and get a couple more." (R. 208:50.) "You kill them. Dead. . . . if they come to your home, you kill them dead. . . . I know it's a scary thought . . . But you got to do it." (R. 209:337-38.) Telling Cheryl to chase the police down and kill them as they are running away is solicitation of an act separate from shooting through the door. Kloss further told Cheryl to find someone to "juice up" ammunition for her shotgun "so if they do come over, you know, there's no mistaking that you fire that gun, somebody's going to go down." (R. 209:412.) And he told her to get the contractor fixing the house to "rig something up so the next time a cop comes to the door he'll get electrocuted. Serious Cheri, make no mistake . . . Tell him. Tell him." (R. 208:107.)

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